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O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

SECRETARY OF LABOR Cvil Penalty Proceedi ngs
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. HOPE 78-606-P
PETI TI ONER A/ O No. 46-01271-02021V
V. Harris No. 1 Mne
EASTERN ASSOCI ATED COAL Docket No. HOPE 78-610-P
CORPCORATI ON, A/ O No. 46-01809- 02038V
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Appear ances: Stephen P. Kraner, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor, U S
Department of Labor, for Petitioner
R Henry Moore, Esq., Rose, Schmdt, D xon, Hasley
VWyte, & Hardesty, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, for
Respondent

Bef ore: Judge Cook
I. Procedural Background

On July 27, 1978, petitions were filed for assessnent of
civil penalties against Eastern Associ ated Coal Corporation
(Eastern) for alleged violations of 30 CFR 75.200 and 30 CFR
75.307. These petitions were filed pursuant to section 110 of
the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U S.C 01801
et seq. (1977) (1977 Mne Act). Answers were filed on August 28,
1978.

A notice of hearing was issued on August 31, 1978. On
Sept enber 27, 1978, Respondent filed a nmotion to remand "t he
instant case to the Ofice of Assessnents, Mne Safety and Health
Admi ni stration, for re-evaluation of the proposed penalty
assessnent under the guidelines and phil osophies of the new Rul es
for Part 100, Title 30 of the Code of Federal Regulations.” That
notion was denied on October 11, 1978.



~435

A hearing was held conmenci ng Novenber 7, 1978. Representatives
of both parties were present and partici pated. (FOOINOTE 1) On Decenber
14, 1978, Eastern filed its posthearing brief. The parties were
granted time until January 31, 1979, to file any additiona
briefs. On January 15, 1979, Eastern filed an additiona
statement as to certain exhibits received in evidence on January
5, 1979. MsHA filed no posthearing brief.

I1. Violations Charged
Notice No. 3 DDT, April 8, 1977, 30 CFR 75. 200.
Notice No. 2 CEB, Novenber 27, 1977, 30 CFR 75.307.
I11. Evidence Contained in the Record
A.  Stipulations
At the commencenent of the hearing, counsel for both parties
entered into stipulations which are set forth in the findings of
fact, infra.

B. Wtnesses

MSHA called as its witnesses David D. Trunp, an NMSHA
i nspector, and Orville E. Boggs, an MSHA i nspector.

Eastern called as its witnesses George T. Daniel, the
general mne foreman at the Harris No. 1 Mne; Janes R Browning,
t he assistant mine inspector for Eastern at the Harris No. 1
M ne; Janes A Sexton, the foreman at the Wharton No. 2 Mne; and
Jerry Edward Lewi s, the general mne foreman at the Wharton No. 2
M ne.

C. Exhibits
(1) MsHA introduced the follow ng exhibits into evidence:

M1 is a computer printout of Eastern's history of
vi ol ati ons (order of Decenber 18, 1978).

M2 is a copy of the roof control plan for the Harris No. 1
Mne (Tr. 16).
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M3 is a copy of Notice No. 3 DDT, April 8, 1977, 30 CFR 75.200
(Tr. 19).

M4 and M5 are the term nation and nodification of M3 (Tr.
19).

M6 is a copy of Notice No. 2 CEB, Novenber 28, 1977, 30 CFR
75.307 (Tr. 89).

M7 is a copy of the termination of M6 (Tr. 89).

M8 and M9 are certified copies of MSHA records relating to
test results for six bottle sanples of air taken at the Warton
No. 2 Mne (order of January 8, 1979).

(2) Eastern introduced the follow ng exhibits into
evi dence:

0-1is amp of a part of the Harris No. 1 Mne (Tr. 73).

0-2 is a copy of interoffice correspondence of Eastern dated
May 5, 1977 (Tr. 73).

0-3 is a copy of one of Eastern's M ne Atnosphere Anal ysis
Reports for the Wharton No. 2 Mne (Tr. 131-132).

(3) Exhibit X-1 is a drawi ng made during the exam nation of
one of the witnesses (Tr. 57-58).

I V. | ssues

Two basic issues are involved in the assessnment of a civil
penalty: (1) did a violation of the Act occur, and (2) what
anmount shoul d be assessed as a penalty if a violation is found to
have occurred? 1In determ ning the anpunt of civil penalty that
shoul d be assessed for a violation, the law requires that six
factors be considered: (1) history of previous violations; (2)
appropriateness of the penalty to the size of the operator's
busi ness; (3) whether the operator was negligent; (4) effect of
the penalty on the operator's ability to continue in business;
(5) gravity of the violation; and (6) the operator's good faith
in attenpting rapid abatenent of the violation

V. pinion and Fi ndi ngs of Fact
A.  Stipul ations(FOOTNOTE 2)
At the commencenent of the hearing, counsel for both parties

entered into the followi ng stipulations (As relates to the
t onnage
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of production, Respondent stipul ated generally to such figures
rather than to their absolute accuracy) (Tr. 7):

1. The Harris No. 1 M ne produces approxi mately 630, 277
tons of coal per year (Tr. 7).

2. Eastern Associ ated produces approxi mately 6,648,618 tons
of coal per year (Tr. 7).

3. The Wharton No. 2 M ne produces approxi mately 94, 106
tons of coal per year (Tr. 8).

4. Eastern Associated Coal Corporation is the operator of
the m nes involved in these cases and the coal produced from
these mines is involved in interstate conmerce (Tr. 7-8).

5. This Administrative Law Judge has jurisdiction to hear
t hese cases (Tr. 7-8).

B. COccurrence of Violation, Gavity, and Negligence

After careful consideration of the entire record, and upon
the basis of the reliable, substantial and probative evidence

therein, I find and conclude that violations did occur as
descri bed bel ow and that the assessnent of a civil penalty is
required. | find the facts to be as follows

HOPE 78-606- P
(1) Notice No. 3 DDT, April 8, 1977, 30 CFR 75. 200

On April 8, 1977, Federal coal mne inspector David D. Trunp
made a regul ar inspection of the Harris No. 1 Mne (Tr. 19). The
m ners were al ready underground when he arrived and went to the
production site (Tr. 20). He went to the No. 2 East section and
observed crosscuts in the No. 2 entry near spad 3531 and t he No.
1 entry near spad No. 3802. The corners of the crosscuts had
been rounded off and by measurenent were from 22-24 feet in width
(Tr. 21). These widths were neasured by a tape line (Tr. 24).
Drawi ng No. 3 of the roof control plan (Exh. M2) contains a
sketch which indicates that the maxi mum
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wi dth of the entries should be 20 feet (Tr. 22, 23), although
MSHA all ows 12 inches nore than the maxi mum 20-foot width (Tr.
33, 34). This excessive width of the crosscut corners was not
caused by any sloughing (Tr. 21).

There were four separate crosscuts in the No. 2 entry and
one in the No. 1 entry that had excessive widths (Tr. 43). The
excessive width was not all the way through the crosscuts, but
was only at the entrances of the crosscuts (Tr. 42).

The inspector also testified that Safety Precaution No. 20
of the roof control plan requires rib supports where the mning
height is 72 inches or greater (Tr. 26).

Safety Precaution No. 20 of the roof control plan states:

VWere the mine height is 72 inches or greater, a row of
line posts shall be installed on each side of the
roadway on 6-foot maxi mum spacings. |In areas where
adequat e anchorage can be maintained, rib bolts in
conjunction with cap pieces or straps and installed on
5-f oot maxi mum spaci ngs may be used in lieu of the
posts. Wiere rib supports are required, they shall be
mai ntained to within 25 feet of the face

He testified that he neasured the area and determn ned that
it was greater than 72 inches (Tr. 27). However, he did not
recall if he neasured the 72-inch height in all five |ocations
(Tr. 32). He further testified that he did not know the nunber
of the percentage of required posts that were nissing or
di sl odged (Tr. 28, 56).

The inspector noted that an alternative to setting tinbers
in areas where the height is greater than 72 inches is bolting
the ribs with cap blocks or straps (Tr. 55). The inspector
testified that Eastern was not using rib bolts with cap pieces in
this area (Tr. 27).

The inspector testified that he had checked the roof in the
area of the excessive wi dth and m ssing roof supports, and that
the roof was |oose and drumy (Tr. 28). This condition was
di agnosed on the basis of a sound vibration test (Tr. 28). He
al so observed that the | oose and drummy material was | oose draw
rock (Tr. 28). He determined that the thickness of the material
was fromO to 3 inches. This figure was reached after neasuring
some rock which had fallen (Tr. 29).

The inspector issued Notice of Violation No. 3 DDT (Exh.
M 3), which stated in pertinent part:

Drawi ng No. 3 roof control plan was not being conplied
with in that crosscuts (intersection) was from?22 to 24
f eet
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inwidth., Starting at Spad No. 3531 and outby two crosscuts, and
i nby two crosscuts No. 2 entry. Also one crosscut inby spad No.
3802 No. 1 entry. Also rib support was m ssing and di sl odged
t hrough the section, and No. 2 entry travel roadways. Persons
was working in all areas of section at said tinme. The roof was
| oose and drummy between pernanent support draw rock fromO - 3
i nches through section 2 east section (028).

The inspector asserted that the hazard associated with these
two concurrent conditions was that a roof fall mght be created
fromthe resulting pressure (Tr. 29). According to his
testinmony, when excess width at the intersections of the entries
and crosscuts was coupled with the |ack of additional rib support
where the coal was over 72 inches, there existed an increased
danger of a roof fall (Tr. 30). Ri b posts would have hel ped
support the roof (Tr. 30).

Exhibit 0-1 is a map of a portion of the Harris No. 1 M ne.
It contains markings which indicate, according to the testinony
of the general mne foreman, the location of the alleged
violations nentioned in Notice No. 3 DDT (Exh. M3). The
mar ki ngs were identified at the hearing as foll ows:

Mar ki ng I dentification Transcri pt Page
A Spad No. 3531 67
B Spad No. 3802 67, 68
C One of the rounded- of f

intersections referred to by
t he inspector in

the notice 68
D Anot her rounded- of f

i ntersection 68
E Rounded- of f corners 69
F Rounded- of f corners 69
G Entry No. 1 70, 71
H Entry No. 2 71
I Entry No. 1, Butt Section 71
J Entry No. 2, Butt Section 71
Arrows The arrows represent outby

and inby certain spad nunbers 72

Curved line to the right of "A" was not identified 70

During the hearing, the inspector explained how he neasured
the five intersections with excessive widths. As indicated on
Exhi bit X-1, the inspector neasured the distance fromlocation E
to location G across the crosscut. It nmeasured 20 feet. The
di stance fromlocation Gto location H nmeasured from22 to 24
feet (Tr. 54). Both location G and | ocation H represent
i ntersections between the curves and the ribs (Tr. 52, 53).
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A question is presented as to whether the all eged excessive w dth
at the crosscuts and i nadequate rib supports are to be viewed as
parts of a single violation of the roof control plan, or whether
they consitute separate alleged violations. For the reasons
stated below, | find that they nust be viewed as separate all eged
violations. This finding will have significance in determ ning
the appropriate penalty to assess.

Adequat e roof control plans are the joint work product of
both the operators and the Secretary, as indicated by 30 CFR
75.200. That section states, in pertinent part:

Each operator shall undertake to carry out on a
continuing basis a programto inprove the roof control
system of each coal mne and the nmeans and neasures to
acconpl i sh such system The roof and ribs of al
active underground roadways, travelways, and worKking
pl aces shall be supported or otherw se controlled
adequately to protect persons fromfalls of the roof or
ribs. A roof control plan and revisions thereof
suitable to the roof conditions and m ning system of
each coal mne and approved by the Secretary shall be
adopted and set out in printed formon or before My
29, 1970. The plan shall show the type of support and
spaci ng approved by the Secretary. Such plan shall be
reviewed periodically, at |east every 6 nonths by the
Secretary, taking into consideration any falls of roof
or ribs or inadequacy of support of roof or ribs. No
person shall proceed beyond the |ast permanent support
unl ess adequate tenporary support is provided or unless
such temporary support is not required under the
approved roof control plan and the absence of such
support will not pose a hazard to the m ners.

Each operator is required to adopt a roof control plan
suitable to the roof conditions and the mning systemfor al
under ground roadways, travelways and worki ng pl aces of each nine
30 CFR 75.200-2. These roof control plans nust be approved by
the District Manager of the coal mne health and safety district
in which the mne is located. 30 CFR 75.200-3, 75.200-4.

The i ndependent significance of the rib supports and the
wi dth of the openings is highlighted by the regul ati ons since
these topics are addressed in separate sections. 30 CFR 75.200-5

lists the general information required in roof control plans. It

specifically mentions rib supports, but is silent as to the

appropriate width of the openings. It states, in pertinent part:
A roof control plan shall include the follow ng

i nformati on:

* * *x K* * *x *
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(f) A description of the sequence of mning and installation of
supports including temporary supports. The description shal
i ncl ude:

(1) Drawi ngs on 8-1/2-inch by 11-inch paper or on paper
folded to this size, showing the I ocation of all roof,
face, and rib supports for each nethod of m ning

enpl oyed at the mnes. The scale shall be specified
and not less than 5 feet to the inch nor nore than 20
feet to the inch. A legend explaining all the synbols
used shall also be included on the draw ngs. [Enphasis
added. ]

W dt hs of openings are addressed by 30 CFR 75.201-1, which
states:

(a) The nmethod of mning shall provide w dths of
openings and pillar dinensions conpatible with
effective roof control. These wi dths and di nensi ons
shal |l be incorporated into the roof control plan
subm tted for approval.

(b) Where excessive widths result from poor m ning
practices, additional roof support shall be installed
before any travel or other work is done in such area.

I f excessive wi dths of openings are a result of coa

sl oughi ng, additional support shall be installed and
the m ning systemreeval uated to determ ne changes t hat
are necessary to mnimze such occurrences.

Therefore, it is clear that the regul atory schene
contenpl ates treating the two alleged infractions as separate
vi ol ati ons, even though both are cited in the same notice, and
even though the increased hazard of a roof fall is attributable
to the concurrence of both infractions.

The next question which nust be decided is whether MSHA has
established its case by a preponderance of the evidence, as
requi red under 29 CFR 2700.48. For the reasons stated bel ow, |
find that MSHA has established by a preponderance of the evidence
that the five intersections cited by the inspector were not in
conpliance with Drawing No. 3 of the roof control plan (Exh. M 2)
in that they exceeded the 20-foot requirenent. | also find, for
t he reasons stated bel ow, that MSHA has failed to prove by a
preponder ance of the evidence that the Respondent viol ated roof
control plan Safety Precaution No. 20 in that insufficient
evi dence was presented that the mning height equal ed or exceeded
72 inches in any |ocations where rib support was m ssing.

The record clearly establishes that the inspector neasured
the width of the five intersections (Tr. 33), and that these
i ntersections
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measured from22 to 24 feet in width. Diagram No. 3 of the roof
control plan (Exh. M2) requires the crosscuts and entries at the
intersections to be not greater than 20 feet w de, although MSHA
allows 12 inches nore than 20 feet at the entries (Tr. 33-34).
Even assuming for purposes of argunent that 21-foot wi dths at the
i ntersections woul d not have been considered cause to issue a
notice of violation, the fact remains that the widths at the five
i ntersections in question exceeded 21 feet by 1 to 3 feet. Since
t he Respondent offered no rebuttal evidence establishing w dths
less than the figures cited by the inspector, I find that the
openi ngs neasured from22 to 24 feet in width, and that it failed
to conmply with the roof control plan's requirements (Exh. M2,
Drawi ng No. 3).

In reaching this conclusion, it has been necessary to decide
two subi ssues: First, whether the inspector selected a proper
met hod for measuring the wi dths; and second, whether he should
have been required to state the width at each intersection
nmeasur ed.

The inspector described the nmethod enpl oyed in determning
the widths of the five rounded intersections (Tr. 38-54). During
the course of the testinony, the inspector drew a rough sketch to
illustrate the neasurenent nethod used. This sketch was
subsequently marked as Exhibit X-1 and made part of the record
(Tr. 58). Points A, B, C, and D on the sketch represent the
rounded corners at the intersections. Points E, G and H
represent the points at which the rounded corners, or "curves,"
intersect the ribs. Point F represents the m dpoint of one of
t he rounded corners or "curves." The inspector testified that he
measured frompoint Eto point G and that the di stance between
the two points was 20 feet (Tr. 54). Wen he neasured the five
i ntersections, he neasured frompoint Gto point H and recorded
nmeasurenents ranging from?22 to 24 feet (Tr. 54). 1In other
words, he selected a point at which the rounded corner
intersected the rib (point G§ and neasured fromthat point to a
correlative point on the opposite rounded corner where it
intersected the rib (point H).

This method of determining the width of the intersections is
a logical one. However, it appears equally |ogical to nmeasure
fromthe mdpoint of one of the rounded corners (point F) to the
m dpoi nt of the rounded corner on the opposite rib. The
i nspector did not indicate why he chose to nmeasure frompoint G
to point H In any event, the Respondent did not object to the
measur enent nethod at the hearing, and does not raise the issue
in his post-trial brief. Therefore, it appears that the
i nspector's nmethod of nmeasurenment was valid. This interpretation
is supported by the evidence. The inspector was accomnmpani ed on
the inspection tour by James R Browning (Tr. 20-21, 80), the
assistant mne inspector for Eastern Associ ated Coal at the
Harris No. 1 Mne. There was no evidence indicating that either
M. Browni ng or any other enpl oyee of the Respondent objected to
t he measurenent procedure. |If it had been defective, then the
| ogi cal
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thing for M. Browning to have done woul d have been to voice an
objection. In addition, Exhibit 0-2, presented by Eastern
refers to the subject situation and states in part: "Managenent
agreed the Roof Control plan had been violated, * * * ™"

Even Respondent's brief recognized that there had been a
vi ol ati on, however, Respondent considered it technical in nature
(Resp. Brief, p. 2).

The second subi ssue addresses whether the inspector should
have been required to state the precise width of each opening.
The inspector testified that he neasured the five intersections
cited in the notice (Exh. M3), and that they were from?22 to 24
feet in width (Tr. 21). But he did not associate specific w dths
with specific intersections. The Respondent did not interpose an
objection to this at the hearing and it does not nmention it in
its post-trial brief (Resp. Brief, pp. 2-5). | am convinced that
t he Respondent would have stressed this point, at least inits
brief, if it had considered it significant. For exanple, the
Respondent, when addressing the issue of inadequate rib supports,
stresses the fact that the inspector did not neasure the mning
height in all five locations to determ ne whether it equal ed or
exceeded the 72-inch requirenent of Safety Precaution No. 20
(Resp. Brief, pp. 4-5). But it does not nention the inspector's
failure to associate specific widths with specific intersections.
Since the brief reveals that the Respondent was aware of the
i nportance of precise nmeasurenments, it nust be deenmed to have
knowi ngl y wai ved any objection to MSHA's failure to establish a
specific width for each of the five intersections.

Wth respect to the alleged violation of Safety Precaution
No. 20 of the roof control plan, the inspector did not know the
nunber or the percentage of required rib supports that were
m ssing or dislodged (Tr. 28, 56). The operator is required to
provi de additional rib support in the formof tinbers or rib
bolts when the m ning hei ght equals or exceeds 72 inches (Tr. 26,
Exh. M2). The inspector testified that the area of the mne in
guestion had a height of 72 inches or greater (Tr. 26), but he
did not recall whether he had neasured the height of the coal in
the five locations (Tr. 32). George Daniel, the general mne
foreman at the Harris No. 1 Mne for 2 years, testified that the
area varies in height with approximately 60-70 percent being 72
i nches or greater (Tr. 60). In other words, 30-40 percent of the
area had a mning height of Iess than 72 inches and did not
require the additional support nandated by Safety Precaution No.
20 (Exh. 2). This indicates a need for neasuring the height of
the coal, which the inspector did not do. Consequently, the
i nspector did not connect a 72-inch height with specific m ssing
rib support. Therefore, it cannot be found that a violation of
Safety Precaution No. 20 was proved by as preponderance of the
evi dence.
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Gavity

MSHA est abl i shed the Respondent's failure to conply with
Di agram No. 3 of the roof control plan (Exh. M2) in effect at
the Harris No. 1 Mne. It was proved by a preponderance of the
evi dence that the roof control plan required 20-foot wi dths at
the five intersections in question, and that the intersections
measured from22 to 24 feet in width. The w de spaces were not
caused by sl oughage (Tr. 21).

Ceorge T. Daniel, the general mne foreman at the Harris No.
1 Mne, testified that the corners of the intersection got
rounded as "it's difficult to get the mner around the corner to
turn the intersection with the roadways" (Tr. 61). It was,
however, possible to get the mner around the intersections
wi t hout enlarging the corner widths (Tr. 78, 79). According to
M. Daniel, when the distance fromthe ribs to the bolts exceeds
5 feet, the roof control plan (Exh. M2) requires the
installation of another roof bolt with a cap block on it (Tr.
62). He further testified that this would be the procedure where
the intersection was over 20 feet (Tr. 62). Extra bolts had been
installed at the intersection cited by the inspector in his
notice (Tr. 62, 63).

M. Daniel also testified that, to the best of his
know edge, the roof supports in the subject section were not
beari ng any weight, and that the ribs were not sloughing (Tr.
73). This was confirmed by the testinmony of M. Janes R
Browni ng, the assistant mine inspector for Eastern at the Harris
No. 1 Mne (Tr. 80, 81).

MSHA failed to establish by a preponderance of the evidence
that the Respondent violated Safety Precaution No. 20 of the roof
control plan (Exh. M2). Safety Precaution No. 20 required rib
supports where the m ning hei ght equal ed or exceeded 72 inches.
MSHA failed to establish that the mning height was greater than
or equal to 72 inches in any place where rib supports did not
exi st.

The inspector testified that the probability of a roof fal
was aggravated by the concurrent presence of these two conditions
(Tr. 29). But the gravity of the violation nust be assessed with
reference to the finding that the only violation of the roof
control plan was the failure to conply with the requirenments of
Diagram No. 3. The testinmony with respect to the condition of
the roof in the vicinity of the openings is at a standoff. The
i nspector testified that the roof was |oose and drumy (Tr. 28).
But the evidence al so discloses an absence of sloughage (Tr. 21),
an absence of weight on the supports (Tr. 81), and an absence of
appreci able draw rock (Tr. 63). The testinony of M. Daniel
reveals that the roof was good (Tr. 63). J & H Coal Conpany, 2
| BVA 20, 36 (February 1, 1973), affirnmed a decision holding that
standoffs in the testinony are to be resolved in favor of the
operator. Since a standoff is present in the testinony
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of the wi tnesses respecting the condition of the roof in the area
of the excessively wide intersections, | conclude that the roof
was in good condition. | also conclude that the existence of a
good roof in the areas in question resulted in the inprobability
of a roof fall.

Negl i gence

As stated above, the rounded corners of the five
i ntersections were created when the continuous m ner had
difficulty rounding the corners into the crosscuts (Tr. 21, 61).
However, it was possible to get the m ner around the corners
wi t hout enlarging their widths (Tr. 78, 79). Extra bolts had
been installed at the intersections cited by the inspector in his
notice (Tr. 62-63).

The conditions were readily observable (Tr. 30, 31). The
i nspector testified that, in his opinion, managenent shoul d have
been aware of this condition because "managenent is usually on
the section every day" (Tr. 30). It was the inspector's
consi dered opinion that the condition had existed for
approximately 1 week (Tr. 30). He admitted that he was unable to
recal |l the nunber of entries being driven by the conpany, but he
testified that if the Respondent had been driving five entries,
it would have taken approximately 1 week to advance by the
condition observed during the inspection (Tr. 30, 32, 33).

I find the Respondent denonstrated nore than ordinary
negl i gence under the facts as stated.

HOPE 78-610-P
(2) Notice No. 2 CEB, Novenber 28, 1977, 30 CFR 75.307

MSHA mine inspector Orville Boggs arrived at the Warton No.
2 Mne at 8 a.m on Novenber 28, 1977, for a general mne
i nspection (Tr. 88, 90). He went underground with Jerry Lew s,
the general mne foreman at the Wharton No. 2 Mne. M. Lew s
acconpani ed | nspector Boggs on the inspection (Tr. 90). They
proceeded to the 2 South Section, arriving there between 8:30 and
9 am (Tr. 90, 109, 121-122). The crews were already
under ground when they arrived (Tr. 90-91).

The inspector testified that he exanm ned the face area (Tr.
91). He also testified that he asked both the continuous m ner
operator and the roof bolt crew if they had approved net hane
detectors, and they answered in the negative (Tr. 91). This was
confirmed by the testinony of Jerry Lewis (Tr. 122). The
i nspector further testified that he asked the mner operator and
roof bolt crew whet her they had been checking for methane (Tr.
91-92). They stated that they did not have anything to test it
with (Tr. 91-92). He then approached M. James A. Sexton, the
tenmporary section foreman, and di scovered that M. Sexton did not
have an approved nethane detector (Tr. 92). It is a genera
practice in the coal mning industry to supply two or
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three persons on a section w th nethane detectors (Tr. 92-93).

It is customary for the section foreman to have a net hane
detector (Tr. 93). M. Sexton had a flane safety lanp with him
but flane safety | anps are not approved net hane detecti on devices
(Tr. 95).

The roof bolter does not have a nethane detector on it (Tr.
96). The continuous m ner has a nethane nonitor, and, if the
moni tor is working properly, it will kick the power off the m ner
if the nethane reaches 2 percent (Tr. 95-96, 109). On the day in
guestion, the nethane nonitor on the mner was operable (Tr.
109).

M. James Sexton testified that he had been naki ng met hane
examnations with a flame safety lanp (Tr. 110), which will
i ndi cate nmethane in the presence of 1 percent or nore. It wll
not indicate less than 1 percent (Tr. 108-109).

I nspect or Boggs testified that coal had been produced on the
section in question during the shift on which the inspection was
made (Tr. 138-139). He based his conclusion on the fact that he
had seen shuttle cars running on the section

M. Janmes Sexton denied that the Respondent had been
producing coal (Tr. 110). M. Jerry Lewis testified that the
conti nuous mner had been cl eaning up rock inby the |l ast open
crosscut (Tr. 134), so that the roof bolting crew could get the
roof bolting machine into the face area (Tr. 134-135). M.
Sexton adm tted | oadi ng two buggi es of coal, but denied that he
had cut any out of the face (Tr. 161), prior to taking a nethane
test with an approved nethane detector. (FOOTNOTE 3)

The inspector issued a notice (Exh. M6), citing a violation
of 30 CFR 75.307 and setting forth a time of 10:40 a.m 30 CFR
75. 307 states:

At the start of each shift, tests for nethane shall be
made at each working place i nmedi ately before
electrically operated equipnent is energized. Such
tests shall be nmade by qualified persons. If 1.0

vol ume per centumor nore of nethane is detected,

el ectrical equipnment shall not be energized, taken
into, or operated in, such working place until the air
therein contains less than 1.0 vol une per centum of

nmet hane. Exami nations for nethane shall be nmade during
t he operation of such equi pnent at intervals of not
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nmore than 20 minutes during each shift, unless nore frequent
exam nations are required by an authorized representative of the
Secretary. In conducting such tests, such person shall use neans
approved by the Secretary for detecting nethane.

The notice described the violation as foll ows:

The necessary nethane tests in the face areas were not
being made in the 2 south section (022) in that a

nmet hane detector could not be found on the section

The section had been producing coal fromthe face areas
for about two hours. Tests are required at the

begi nning of the shift before the electrical equipnment
is energized and every twenty mnutes while electrica
equi prent is operating in the faces.

I find that a violation of 30 CFR 75. 307 was present. The
regul ation requires nethane tests to be conducted with an
approved net hane detector. A flane safety lanp is not an
approved detector (Tr. 95). 30 CFR 75.304-3. Yet, prior to the
i nspector's arrival on the scene, there was not an approved
detector on the section (Tr. 91, 92, 122). The Respondent had
been using a flame safety lanp to conduct the nmethane tests (Tr.
110).

The evi dence al so establishes that electrically energized
equi prent had been energized prior to the admnistration of a
nmet hane test with an approved detector, and that the equi pnent

was within the "working place.” The term "working place" is
defined by 30 CFR 75.2(g)(2) as "the area of a mine inby the | ast
open crosscut."” The testinmony of M. Lewis established that the

continuous mner, a piece of electrically energized equi pment,
had been operating inby the |ast open crosscut (Tr. 134), thus
placing it within the "working place.™

| therefore conclude that MSHA has established a violation
of 30 CFR 75.307 by a preponderance of the evidence.

Gavity

The continuous mner, a piece of electrically energized
equi prent, had been operated in the working place before
conducting a nmethane test with an approved net hane detector (Tr.
107, 110, 134), although a test had been nmade with a flanme safety
lanp (Tr. 107). A flame safety lanp is not an approved detector
(Tr. 95). 30 CFR 75.304-3. The lanmp will not indicate the
presence of nethane at levels less than 1.0 vol ume per centum
The pertinent law requires that if "1.0 volume per centum or nore
of methane is detected, electrical equipnent shall not be
energi zed, taken into, or operated in, such working place until
the air therein contains I ess than 1.0 vol une per centum of
met hane." The continuous mner in this case was equi pped with an
operabl e net hane nonitor that would shut off the
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power if the nmethane | evel reached 2 percent (Tr. 95, 109). The
expl osive m xture of methane is 5 to 15 percent (Tr. 161).

M. Lewis testified that he had never detected nethane in
any quantity with either a flane safety |lanp or an approved
detector in any part of the mne (Tr. 157). M. Sexton testified
that he had not detected any nethane on 2 South Section on the
day in question with either a flane safety |anp or an approved
detector (Tr. 111). The inspector was unable to detect any
nmet hane on the section

MSHA and t he Respondent submitted air sanple analysis
reports (Exhs. M8, M9, 0-3). These sanples were taken in
various air courses (Tr. 125, Exhs. M8, M9, 0-3). The sanples
did not show any record of nethane which would nmaterially add to
the gravity of the violation (Tr. 127, Exhs. 0-3, M8, M9).

The fact that the inspector had no opinion concerning the
gravity of the violation is not controlling (Tr. 93).

| therefore conclude that the gravity of the violation was
not serious, however, there is always the chance of an unusua
rel ease of nethane.

Negl i gence

As stated above, the Respondent operated electrically
energi zed equi pnment in the working place prior to making a
nmet hane test with an approved nethane detector. A test had been
conducted with a flane safety | anp, but such a device is not an
approved detector within the nmeaning of 30 CFR 75.307. For the
reasons stated below, | find that the Respondent denonstrated
gross negl i gence.

M. James A. Sexton was assigned the tenporary post of
section foreman on Novenber 28, 1977, because the regul ar foreman
was of f (Tr. 106-107). Hi s usual duties were those of genera
| aborer or service foreman (Tr. 106-107). It is customary in the
coal mning industry for a section foreman to have an approved
nmet hane detector (Tr. 92-93). M. Sexton's duties as a genera
| abor foreman did not require himto carry one (Tr. 107). M.
Sexton had served as section foreman in the past, but had been
permanently reassigned to the post of general |abor foreman after
a realignnent of the mnes (Tr. 106). He was required to serve
as tenmporary section foreman 12 to 18 tines a year (Tr. 106).

M. Sexton did not realize that he had forgotten the
approved net hane detectors until he had reached his tenporary
duty station, 2 South Section (Tr. 107). At this point, he
phoned the di spatcher and inforned himthat approved mnet hane
detectors were needed on the section (Tr. 107). This request was
made not later than 8:30 a.m (Tr. 107). M. Sexton proceeded to
make his rounds using a flane
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safety lanp (Tr. 107).(FOOINOTE 4) The detectors had not been delivered
when the inspector arrived on the section between approximtely

8:45 and 9 a.m (Tr. 109).

The testinony established a customin the coal mning
i ndustry whereby methane detectors are supplied to 2 or 3 persons
on a section (Tr. 92-93). Neither the continuous m ner operator
nor the roof bolting machi ne operator had detectors (Tr. 91),
al t hough normally they woul d be expected to have them (Tr. 92).

The roof bolter operator or his hel per conduct mnethane
tests, usually at 20-minute intervals, when working in the face
area (Tr. 97). The miner operator and his helper are required to
make such tests every 20 m nutes when working the face area (Tr.
97). Section foremen nust make those tests before the equi pment
is energized at the beginning of the shift (Tr. 97).

El ectrically energized equi pnent had been operating in the
wor ki ng place prior to the approved detectors' arrival in that
t he conti nuous m ner had been cl eaning up rock inby the [ast open
crosscut (Tr. 134), so that the roof bolting crew could get the
roof bolting machine into the face area (Tr. 134-135). In
addition, two buggi es of coal had been | oaded (Tr. 161).

The Respondent argues that West Virginia |law pernits the use
of flame safety lanps in testing for nmethane (Tr. 118-119). Since
met hane tests were admnistered with a flame safety lanp (Tr.
107), the Respondent argues that the violation is not as severe
as MSHA contends (Tr. 119).

West Virginia | aw does not approve the substitution of flame
safety |l anps for approved nethane detectors. Flanme safety |anps
have been |imted to a subsidiary role in the detection of
nmet hane under West Virginia | aw. (FOOTNOTE 5) State |aw requires the use
of approved detectors.
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I therefore conclude that Respondent deliberately pernmitted the
operation of electrically operated equipnent in the working place
in 2 South Section prior to taking nmethane tests with an approved
detector. This constitutes gross negligence.

C. History of Previous Violations
(1) Notice No. 3 DDT, April 8, 1977, 30 CFR 75.200

The following is a list of the approxi mate nunber of
violations at the Harris No. 1 Mne between April 8, 1975, and
April 8, 1977, for which Eastern paid penalties. The history is
divided into two categories, first as to all sections of the Code
of Federal Regul ations, and second as to 30 CFR 75. 200.

Nunber of 4/ 8/ 75 t hrough 4/ 8/ 76 t hrough

Vi ol ati ons 4/ 71176 4/ 8/ 77 Tot a
Al'l sections 95 232 327
30 CFR 75. 200 7 14 21

MSHA has failed to prove the nunber of inspection days
during these periods.

(2) Notice No. 3 CEB, Novenber 28, 1977, 30 CFR 75.307

The following is a list of the approxi mate nunber of
violations at the Wiarton No. 2 M ne between Novenber 28, 1975,
and Novenber 28, 1977, for which Eastern paid penalties. The
listing is divided into two categories, first as to all sections
of the Code of Federal Regul ations, and second as to 30 CFR
75. 307.
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Nunber of 11/ 29/ 75 t hr ough 11/ 29/ 76, through
Vi ol ati ons 11/ 28/ 76 11/ 28/ 77

Al'l sections 399 144
30 CFR 75. 307 2 0

MSHA has failed to prove the nunber of inspection days during
t hese peri ods.

D. Size of Operator's Business

Eastern Associ ated Coal Corporation produces approxi mately
6,648,618 tons of coal per year (Tr. 7). The Harris No. 1 M ne
produces approxi mately 630,277 tons of coal per year (Tr. 7).
The Wharton No. 2 M ne produces approximately 94,106 tons of coa
per year (Tr. 8).

E. Effect of Penalty on Operator's Ability to Continue in
Busi ness

Eastern did not offer evidence establishing that the
assessnment of penalties will adversely affect the operator's
ability to continue in business. The Interior Board of M ne
Operations Appeals (Board) has held that evidence relating to
whet her a penalty will affect the ability of the operator to stay
in business is within the operator's control, and therefore,
there is a presunption that the operator will not be so affected.
Hal | Coal Conpany, 1 IBVA 175, 79 |.D. 668, 1971-1973 OSHD par.
15,380 (1972). | find therefore, that penalties otherw se
properly assessed in these proceedi ngs would not inpair the
operator's ability to continue in business.

F. Good Faith in Attenpting Rapi d Abat enment
(1) Notice No. 2 DDT, April 8, 1977, 30 CFR 75.200

The inspector allotted the Respondent 3 days to abate the
vi ol ati on because the net hod of abatenent was novel (Tr. 34, 36,
64) (Exh. M3). The Respondent succeeded in abating the
violation on the sanme shift (Tr. 64), even though MSHA had sought
specifically to devise an expensive and tine-consum ng nethod of
abatement as a deterrent to excessive width violations (Tr. 36).
I therefore conclude that the Respondent denonstrated good faith
t hrough the rapid abatenent of the violation

(2) Notice No. 2 CEB, Novenber 28, 1977, 30 CFR 75.307

The parties disagreed on the issuance tine of the notice.
I nspect or Boggs testified that the notice was issued at 10:40
a.m (Tr. 142), while Messrs. Sexton and Lewis testified that it
occurred between 8:45 and 9 a.m (Tr. 109, 128-129). However,
I nspect or Boggs'

Tot al

543
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testinony establishes that the violation was abated within an
hour of the issuance of the notice (Tr. 94). This is
corroborated by the testinony of M. Sexton, who stated that the
notice was i ssued at approximately 9 a.m, and that the detectors
arrived between 9:45 and 10 a.m (Tr. 109, 114). The notice was
abat ed when the detector arrived (Tr. 114).

I find that the Respondent exercised good faith by abating
the violation rapidly.

VI. Conclusions of Law

1. Eastern Associated Coal Corporation and its Harris No. 1
and Wharton No. 2 M nes have been subject to the provisions of
the Federal Coal Mne Health and Safety Act of 1969 and the 1977
M ne Act during the periods involved in these proceedi ngs.

2. Under the Acts, the Adm nistrative Law Judge has
jurisdiction over the subject matter of, and parties to, these
pr oceedi ngs.

3. The violations charged in Notice Nos. 3 DDIT and 2 OEB
are found to have occurred as set forth in Part V, above.

4. Al of the conclusions of law set forth in Part V (A
through (F) of this decision are reaffirned and incorporated
her ei n.

VII. Proposed Findings of Fact and Concl usi ons of Law

The Respondent filed a posthearing brief, MSHA did not. On
Decenmber 8, 1978, and January 2, 1979, MSHA fil ed suppl enent al
statements in support of its notion to admt Exhibits M8 and M9
cont ai ni ng proposed findings of fact. On Decenber 15, 1978, and
January 15, 1979, Respondent filed additional statenents as to
Exhi bits M8 and M 9.

Such subm ssions, insofar as they can be considered to have
cont ai ned proposed findings and concl usi ons, have been consi dered
fully, and except to the extent that such findings and
concl usi ons have been expressly or inpliedly affirmed in this
decision, they are rejected on the ground that they are, in whole
or in part, contrary to the facts and | aw or because they are
imaterial to the decision in these cases.

VII1. Penalty Assessnent
Upon consideration of the entire record in these cases and

the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, | find
that the assessnment of a penalty is warranted as foll ows:
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Noti ce No. Dat e 30 CFR Standard Assessnent
3 DDT 04/ 08/ 77 75. 200 $ 500( FOOTNOTE 6)
2 CEB 11/ 28/ 77 75. 307 1, 400
ORDER

Respondent is directed to pay the penalty assessed in the
amount of $1,900 within 30 days of the date of this decision

John F. Cook

Admi ni strative Law Judge
AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA
FOOTNOTES START HERE
~FOOTNOTE_ONE

1. At the tine of hearing, counsel for both parties proposed

settlenents as to penalty assessnents to be paid by Respondent as
to all alleged violations involved in Docket Nos. HOPE 78-609-P,
and HOPE 78-611-P (Tr. 98-99). Prior to the hearing, MSHA had
filed a request for settlenment approval in Docket No. HOPE
78-608-P (Tr. 4). Those matters were di sposed of in a decision
dat ed Novenber 30, 1978.

~FOOTNOTE_TWOD

2. In a letter dated Novenber 27, 1978, counsel for the
Respondent requested an anendnment to the transcript for purposes
of correcting an error. In a letter dated Decenmber 29, 1978
counsel for the Petitioner indicated that he had no objection to
t he requested anmendnent. Page 74, line 6, of the transcript
reads: "have occurred in this mne, either on unsupported top."
In accordance with the agreenment reached between the parties,
page 74, line 6, of the transcript is hereby anended to read:
"have occurred in this mne, under supported top."

~FOOTNOTE_THREE

3. It is not necessary to determ ne whether coal had been
produced for purposes of finding that a violation occurred. The
fact that the continuous mner, a piece of electrically energized
equi prent, was operating inby the |ast open crosscut, prior to
t aki ng met hane readings with an approved detector, is sufficient
to establish a violation of 30 CFR 75. 307.

~FOOTNOTE_FQOUR

4. Inspector Boggs initially testified that he had asked M.
Sext on whet her he had conducted any nethane tests, and that M.
Sexton had answered in the negative, stating that he did not have
a nmet hane detector (Tr. 93). H s testinony conflicted with M.
Sexton's assertion that he had conducted tests, although not with
an approved detector (Tr. 107). However, the inspector testified
under cross-exam nation that, to the best of his recollection
M. Sexton had a flane safety lanmp with him(Tr. 95). The
i nspector further testified that he thought M. Sexton had stated
that he had not conducted tests with the lanp (Tr. 95). In view
of the inspector's uncertainty, | conclude that M. Sexton did
conduct nethane tests with the flanme safety | anp.



~FOOTNOTE_FI VE
5. West Virginia Code, section 22-2-14 (1977), states:

"It shall be the duty of the mine foreman, assistant
m ne foreman or fire boss to exam ne all working places under his
supervision for hazards at |east once every two hours during each
coal -produci ng shift, or nore often if necessary for safety. In
all mnes such exam nations shall include tests with an approved
detector for methane and oxygen deficiency and may al so include
tests with a permssible flame safety lanp. It shall also be his
duty to renmpove as soon as possible after its discovery any
accunul ati ons of explosive or noxious gases in active workings,
and where practicable, any accumul ati ons of expl osive or noxious
gases in the worked out and abandoned portions of the mne. It
shall be the duty of the mne foreman, assistant mine forenman or
fire boss to exam ne each mine within three hours prior to the
begi nning of a shift and before any mner in such shift enters
the active workings of the mne." (1958, c. 13; 1971; c. 89;
1977, c. 121.) (Enphasis added.)

~FOOTNOTE_SI X

6. MSHA initially proposed a $1,500 penalty for the
violation. At the conclusion of the hearing, MSHA reconmended a
$2,000 penalty (Tr. 164). MBSHA undoubtedly based this assessnent
on the assunption that violations of Safety Precaution No. 20 and
of Diagram No. 3 could be proved by a preponderance of the
evidence. As nentioned in previous sections, MSHA was unable to
establish the requisite violation of Safety Precaution No. 20
that m ght have been a partial foundation for a $2,000 penalty.
Al t hough MSHA proved that the roof control plan had been viol ated
in that five intersections had widths in excess of the 20-foot
requi renent contained in Diagram No.3 of the plan, MSHA was
unable to establish a violation of sufficient gravity, or the
requisite lack of good faith, needed to justify so large a fine.

Furthernore, Exhibit M1 reveals that for the period of
January 1, 1970, to April 8, 1977, only two other 104(c)
violations for which penalties were paid occurred in the history
of the Harris No. 1 Mne, in May and Septenber of 1976. The one
for May of 1976 was assessed at $375, and paid for $200. The one
in Septenber of 1976 was assessed for $115 and paid for $115.
During that period, the maxi num assessnment with regard to
violations of 30 CFR 75.200 was $200 and the maxi mum anmount paid
by Eastern was $200 and the maxi num assessnent for any sort of
violation at the Harris No. 1 Mne was $2,000 (for a 104(a)
order), and the maxi mum anmount paid was $400 on that sane
viol ation.



